

[IJPHS] Submission Acknowledgement External Inbox x

Lina Handayani ijphs@iaescore.com via smtpcorp.com to me Mon, Dec 6, 2021, 8:42 PM

The following message is being delivered on behalf of International Journal of Public Health Science (IJPHS).

Akrom Akrom:

Thank you for submitting the manuscript, "History of Infection and Protein Consumption in Stunting versus Non-Stunting Children in Public Health Center at Rural Area" to International Journal of Public Health Science (IJPHS). With the online journal management system that we are using, you will be able to track its progress through the editorial process by logging in to the journal web site:

Manuscript URL: https://ijphs.iaescore.com/index.php/IJPHS/author/submission/21592 Username: akrom

If you have any questions, please contact me. Thank you for considering this

If you have any questions, please contact me. Thank you for considering this journal as a venue for your work.

Lina Handayani International Journal of Public Health Science (IJPHS)

International Journal of Public Health Science (IJPHS) http://ijphs.iaescore.com

Mr Akrom yk <akrom@pharm.uad.ac.id> to Lina Dec 6, 2021, 8:43 PM

Thank you for your response.

Reply Forward

ijphs@iaescore.com



Active



UNIVERSITAS AHMAD DAHLAN



75 of many

## [IJPHS] Editor Decision External Inbox x



**Lina Handayani** [ijphs@iaescore.com](mailto:ijphs@iaescore.com) via [smtpcorp.com](mailto:ijphs@iaescore.com)  
to me, Titiek, Arif

Sun, Oct 31, 2021, 7:58 PM

The following message is being delivered on behalf of International Journal of Public Health Science (IJPHS).

Dear Prof/Dr/Mr/Mrs: Akrom Akrom,

We have reached a decision regarding your submission entitled "Black Cumin Seed Oil preparation Consumption Potentially Improves Adaptive Cellular Immune Response in Healthy Volunteers" to International Journal of Public Health Science (IJPHS), a peer-reviewed and an OPEN ACCESS journal that makes significant contributions to major areas of public health science.

Our decision is revisions required.

Please submit your revised paper within 6 weeks.

I look forward for hearing from you

Thank you

Best Regards,  
Dr. Lina Handayani  
Universitas Ahmad Dahlan  
[ijphs@iaescore.com](mailto:ijphs@iaescore.com)

International Journal of Public Health Science (IJPHS)  
<http://ijphs.iaescore.com>

Received, thank you.

Thanks a lot.

Thank you for the information.

Reply

Reply all

Forward

ijphs@iaescore.com

Active

UNIVERSITAS AHMAD DAHLAN

55 of many

**Lina Handayani** ijphs@iaescore.com via smtpcorp.com  
to me, Titiek, Olyvia, Nurcholid, Prasasti

Feb 18, 2022, 2:20 PM

The following message is being delivered on behalf of International Journal of Public Health Science (IJPHS).

---

-- Authors must strictly follow the guidelines for authors at <http://iaescore.com/gfa/ijphs.docx>  
-- Number of minimum references is 30 sources (mainly journal articles) for research paper  
-- and minimum 50 sources (mainly journal articles) for review paper

---

Dear Prof/Dr/Mr/Mrs: Akrom Akrom,

It is my great pleasure to inform you that your paper entitled "History of Infection and Protein Consumption in Stunting versus Non-Stunting Children in Public Health Center at Rural Area" is ACCEPTED and will be published on the International Journal of Public Health Science (IJPHS). This journal is accredited SINTA 1 by Ministry of Research and Technology/National Research and Innovation Agency, Republic of Indonesia (RISTEK-BRIN) and has ACCEPTED for inclusion (indexing) in Scopus (<https://suggestor.step.scopus.com/progressTracker/?trackingID=D331D503BA1584BF>)

since 2020 issues

([https://www.scopus.com/results/results.uri?src=s&st1=&st2=&sot=b&sdt=b&origin=searchbasic&rr=&sl=57&s=SRCTITLE%20\(International%20Journal%20of%20Public%20Health%20Science\)](https://www.scopus.com/results/results.uri?src=s&st1=&st2=&sot=b&sdt=b&origin=searchbasic&rr=&sl=57&s=SRCTITLE%20(International%20Journal%20of%20Public%20Health%20Science))).

Congratulations!

Please prepare your final camera-ready paper (in MS Word or LATEX file format) adheres to every detail of the guide of authors (MS Word: <http://iaescore.com/gfa/ijphs.docx>, or <http://iaescore.com/gfa/ijphs.rar> for LATEX file format), and check it for spelling/grammatical mistakes. Then you should upload your final paper through our online system (as "author version" under our decision, NOT as new submission).

You should submit your camera-ready paper along with your payment receipt and similarity report (that less than 20%) within 6 weeks.

I look forward to hearing from you.

Thank you

Best Regards,  
Dr. Lina Handayani

Rebuttal letter

Dear Editor/Reviewer

I would like to thank the reviewers for your insightful feedback. All comments from Reviewer are highlighted in yellow.

No	Feedback from Reviewer	Revised
1	What does infection history mean?	Thank you We have revised the title:
2	This section contains a lot of truncated and incomplete sentences so I had a hard time understanding what it was trying to convey. Please double check	Thank you We have revised the method.
3	Please clarify what is meant by previous data.	I have revised

Best Regard

Akrom

## Infection and Undernutrition Increase the Risk of Stunting among Rural Children Being Stunted

Akrom<sup>1,4</sup>, Olyvia Wulan Kencana<sup>1</sup>, Nur Cholid Umam<sup>2</sup>, Prasasti Bintarum<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Pharmacology and Clinical Pharmacy Department, Pharmacy Faculty, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

<sup>2</sup>Paediatric Department, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

<sup>3</sup>Non-infectious Disease Department of Public Health Centre Jetis 1, Bantul, D.I. Yogyakarta, Indonesia

<sup>4</sup>Ahmad Dahlan Drug Information and Research Center, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

### Article Info

#### Article history:

Received month dd, yyyy

Revised month dd, yyyy

Accepted month dd, yyyy

#### Keywords:

History infection

Protein consumption

Stunting children

Case-controlled study

Public Health center

### ABSTRACT (10 PT)

The prevalence of stunting in Indonesia is still high. The high incidence of stunting is found to be more common in rural areas is higher than in urban areas. This study aims to determine the factors related to the incidence of stunting in rural areas. We conducted a case-controlled study in Public Health Center Jetis 1 Yogyakarta. We recruited 80 children with the purposive sampling technique. Data on birth weight and disease history were taken from their medical records. Data on consumption patterns of energy, protein, carbohydrate, and fat were collected through a nutritional survey. Different proportions were tested using the Fisher test, and the mean difference was tested using an independent t-test. The results showed that child stunting has had lower energy and protein consumption levels than non-stunting children ( $p = 0.000$ ). The incidence of Diarrheal infection, frequency, and duration of illness were more common in stunted than in non-stunted children ( $p < 0.05$ ). Consumption of protein and energy was associated with the incidence of stunting ( $p < 0.05$ ). The conclusion of this research shows found differences in the incidence of infection, frequency, length of illness, and hospital stay between stunted and non-stunted children, and a significant association between the consumption of protein and energy with an incidence of stunting in children in rural Public Health Children.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-SA license.



Commented [HA1]: What does infection history mean?

### Corresponding Author:

Yu-Tzu Wu

EACH: The Centre for Research in Ageing and Cognitive Health, University of Exeter  
South Cloisters, St Luke's Campus, Exeter, EX1 2LU, United Kingdom

Email: Y.Wu3@exeter.ac.uk

### 1. INTRODUCTION (10 PT)

Stunting is one of the most common nutritional problems in children in developing countries and including Indonesia [1], [2]. Currently, the global prevalence of stunting globally is 22% [3]. According to WHO, Indonesia is ranked third in the highest prevalence of stunting under five with 36% [4]. The Special area Region of Yogyakarta is one of the provinces with a high prevalence of stunting in Indonesia [5]. Stunting is a problem because it is associated with an increased risk of morbidity and mortality [6], [7]. Stunting is caused by many factors, including direct factors including such as food intake and chronic infectious diseases and indirect factors including such as economic, cultural, educational, occupational factors, environmental hygiene factors, and health care facilities [8], [9]. The direct factors are determined by food intake [10], which includes protein, and infections that often coincide [11]. Cigarette exposure also increases the risk of stunting [12], especially when a child has a weak immune system. As a result, the child will be more susceptible to illness.

which can cause a decrease in nutritional intake in the child's body. Diarrhea and respiratory tract infections are the most common infections in children[13], [14]. Children with low-weaker immune status are more susceptible to infection[15]. Stunting-Stunted children are thought to have lower-weaker immunity[16]. It is suspected that there are differences in protein consumption and a history of infectious diseases in-between stunted and non-stunted children[17]. It is also suspected that there is a disparity in stunting prevalence and determinants of stunting between rural and urban areas[18]. Urban areas with-which tend to have complete better facilities and a availability of resources are associated with a lower incidence of stunting[19]. Based on the annual performance report of the Bantul Health Office, it is known that the prevalence of malnutrition in the region is 0.31% [20]. Respiratory tract infections are the second-largest outpatients at Bantul's Public Health Center (PHC). Cases of pneumonia in children under five in Bantul Regency were was reported in 2020 as many as to have reached 424 cases. The diarrhea morbidity rate in Bantul Regency in 2020 is was 64.53 per 1000 population[21]. Although diarrhea is not included in the top ten diseases at the PHC, diarrhea in children can have a long-term impact[22], [23].

Chronic malnutrition is associated with stunting and infection in children under five[24]. Long-term malnutrition can disrupt the child's immune system development[25]. Whether malnutrition increases the incidence of infection or increases the severity of the disease remains debatable[26]. The data show that malnourished children have a higher risk of death after infection[27]. The increased susceptibility to infection may be partly due to decreased immune function by malnutrition[16], and infections and deaths in malnourished children are common in low-income environments. Stunted children are at high risk of infection, including respiratory tract infections. Diarrhea is one of the infectious diseases that can cause impaired absorption and even loss of nutrients, and if it is not treated and balanced with appropriate intake, growth will stunt[28], [29]. In addition, when children have diarrhea, they lose their appetite that further reduces nutritional intake and the nutrients consumed are not absorbed properly by the body. Also, in the same area, another study reported undernutrition as one of the risk factors for mortality in children with moderate-severe-diarrhea [22], [30]. This study aims to determine differences in the incidence of infection, frequency and duration of illness and hospitalization in stunted and non-stunted children, and identify differences in the amount of energy and protein consumption between the two groups.

## 2. METHOD (10 PT)

### 2.1. Research Design

This research was an analytical observational study with a case-control design. This study combined interview and questionnaires to collect data on infection and a questionnaire for measuring food intake with 24-hour nutritional recall in children under five years old. For 3 x 24 hours, researchers trained in food recall interviews asked the respondents about food intake data directly to biological mothers or foster mothers. Researchers collected primary data. In addition, this study also used secondary data from the medical records of the Public Health Center (PHC) Jetis 1 Bantul, Yogyakarta.

Commented [HA2]: Delete if not very important.

### 2.2. Population and sample

The population in this study were stunted and non-stunted children in the working area of PHC Jetis 1, Bantul, Yogyakarta. There were 77 stunted toddlers in the working area of PHC Jetis 1. Purposive sampling method with inclusion and exclusion criteria were used to select respondents. Inclusion criteria were children aged 24 months – 59 months, children without disability / abnormalities (stump leg, small foot on one side), and mother was willing to be a research respondent. Exclusion criteria were children with special needs and mothers who resigned from the research. Based on the inclusion criteria, 40 stunted toddlers were selected; and because this study used case-control with a ratio of 1:1, the sample size for the control group was also 40 children under five, so that the total sample was 80 toddlers. Data collection in this study was carried out using the purposive sampling method. The sample taken is a sample that meets the criteria desired by the researcher (inclusion criteria). A sample of 80 children was taken from the PHC Jetis 1 Working Area, precisely from Trimulyo village, in August-September 2019.

Commented [HA3]: Already clear from the previous sentences; better delete this

### 2.3. Research Instrument

The instrument in this This study is used a questionnaire with several written questions and which can be used to obtain information from the respondents. The Two types of questionnaires consists of were used: (1) a Questionnaire of respondents' characteristics and infection history. This questionnaire contains which collected respondents' demographic data such as names of mothers and toddlers, gender of toddlers, ages of mothers and toddlers, the height of toddlers, weight of toddlers, environmental sanitation, and history of infectious diseases of

toddlers ~~consisting of using~~ 53 question items; ~~and-~~ (2) 24-hour Food Memory Questionnaire (24-hour Food Recall). ~~We used a questionnaire for which was used~~ three times (1x24 hours). ~~So that it can to~~ produce a more optimal picture of nutrient intake and provide a greater variety of individual daily intakes. In addition, the Food Recall method can obtain a quantitative picture of the calories consumed ~~daily~~ by respondents ~~in a day~~. The Food Recall assessment ~~is was~~ used to obtain data on food ingredients consumed by respondents within 24 hours. Nutrient consumption data was obtained utilizing food recall 1x24 hours, ~~which were~~ then converted into energy and nutrients using the List of Food Ingredients (LFI). The data ~~were is~~ processed using Nutrisurvey 2007 software ~~can be seen to measure~~ how much the level of protein ~~consumption~~ and energy consumption per individual ~~children respondent~~. Furthermore, the data were processed using statistical analysis of IBM SPSS 22.00 for assessment and categorization. ~~Conclusions-Results~~ from 24-hour food recall (~~24-hour food recall~~) were ~~concluded divided~~ in two categories: sufficient or low consumption of ~~children~~ per individual. ~~Children have sufficient p~~ Protein consumption ~~status is considered sufficient~~ if their protein consumption ~~it~~ is 35 grams/day and low if ~~their protein consumption it~~ is <35 grams/day. ~~Then the child is said to have good Sufficient~~ energy consumption ~~status is~~ if the ~~energy~~ consumption is 1600kcal/day, and ~~is said to be low~~ ~~consumption is~~ if the energy consumption is <1600kcal/day.

## 2.4. Research Procedure

### 2.4.1. Preparation stage

~~We identified problems or phenomena that exist in the community before preparing a~~ research proposal ~~and~~ determining the area that will be ~~selected as~~ the research site at random. ~~The next steps were~~ collecting primary data of patients, ~~drafting~~ questionnaires ~~with~~ 43 questions, ~~drafting~~ protocols on how to make questionnaires and data collection forms, ~~obtaining~~ ethical clearance ~~for the research at~~ the PHC Jetis 1, and preparing supporting infrastructure. We collected secondary data related to weight by age, height by age, and the percentage incidence of malnutrition from the nutrition management section at the PHC Jetis 1, Bantul, Yogyakarta. ~~Respondents were selected~~ using the purposive sampling technique and primary data ~~were collected~~ through questionnaires and interviews related to food intake, especially protein intake and history of infectious diseases.

### 2.4.2. Implementation stage

#### 2.4.2.1. Subject Recruitment

We visited the respondent's house ~~and if~~ the respondent ~~met~~ the inclusion criteria, the researcher ~~asked~~ the toddler's parents for their availability to be interviewed. ~~We started~~ by explaining the objectives and benefits of ~~becoming~~ research subjects to the respondent. If the respondent agreed, then they were asked to ~~give~~ their signature on the informed consent.

#### 2.4.2.2. Data collection procedure

Data were collected through guided interviews with a questionnaire. The researcher gave an infection questionnaire which contained a list of questions, which were filled by circling the ~~given~~ answers, and a 24-hour food recall questionnaire by interviewing ~~the toddlers' parents~~. After all the questionnaires were ~~completed~~, the researcher checked the completeness of the questionnaire and then ~~carried out~~ data processing, ~~data~~ analysis, ~~and~~ ~~reporting~~.

## 2.5. Data Analysis

Bivariate analyses ~~were conducted to test~~ the proportions of the two groups using the Fisher test ~~to identify~~ sex proportion, age group, birth weight, parental occupation, parental education, energy, and protein consumption status, history of diarrhea and ARI, frequency and duration of illness, history of hospitalization, exposure to cigarettes, and consumption of multivitamins. ~~The mean difference between groups of stunted and non-stunted children was tested~~ using an independent t-test on the total consumption of energy, carbohydrates, protein, fat and fatty acids. We also conducted a simple correlation analysis (Bivariate Correlation) to determine the relationship between each variable protein consumption and energy consumption indicators with the incidence of stunting in children.

## 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION (10 PT)

### 3.1. Description of Respondents Characteristics

Respondents sampled in this study were stunted children as cases and non-stunted children as controls with an age range of 24-59 months ~~around within the working area of~~ the Jetis 1 Yogyakarta Public Health Center ~~Jetis 1 Work Area~~ in August-September 2019 ~~totaling giving a total of~~ 80 respondents. ~~Table 1 shows Grouping the respondents' characteristics~~ based on gender, age, history of LBW, parental education, and

*Paper's should be the fewest possible that accurately describe ... (First Author)*

**Commented [HA4]:** This section contains a lot of truncated and incomplete sentences so I had a hard time understanding what it was trying to convey. Please double check.

parental occupation. [The general description of respondents' characteristics at the Jetis 1 Health Center Yogyakarta is presented in the form of table 1.](#)

Table 1. Demographic characteristics, history of energy and protein consumption, birth weight, exposure to cigarette smoke, consumption of multivitamins, diarrheal illness and ARI, frequency and length of illness, history of hospitalization and education, and mothers' occupation of stunted and non-stunted children at PHC Jetis 1, Bantul.

characteristic	Stunting-Stunted (n=40) (%)	Normal-Non- stunted(n=40) (%)	p
Sex (Male/Female)	27 (67.5)	26 (65)	0.81
Age (24-41/42-59 month)	24 (60)	25 (62.5)	0.82
LBW history (yes/no)	6 (15)	3 (7.5)	0.11
Mother with 9 years Education (no/yes)	14 (35)	17 (42.5)	0.39
Mother's job (housewife/working woman)	6 (15)	24 (60)	0.00**
Protein consumption status (low/enough/enough)	37 (92.5)	0 (0)	0.00**
Energy consumption (low/enough)	38 (95)	13 (32.5)	0.00**
Tobacco smoke exposure (yes/no)	33 (82.5)	10 (25)	0.00**
Multivitamin consumption (yes/no)	14 (35)	22 (55)	0.04*
Diarrhea history (yes)	40 (100)	3 (7.5)	0.00**
Acute Respiratory Infection history (yes)	40 (100)	30 (75)	0.06
More than 6x Diseases (yes/no)	35 (87.5)	3 (7.5)	0.00**
More than 7 days of illness (yes)	34 (85)	11 (27.5)	0.00**
Hospitalization history (yes)	30 (75)	11 (27.5)	0.00**

Based on the results of the analysis of table 1, it is known Table 1 shows that most of the respondents were male, aged between 24-41 months, have had an average birth weight, and have had a history of maternal education of nine years or more longer. There was no difference in the demographic characteristics of the two groups. There was no difference in birth and weight at birth between the two groups. Most mothers of stunted children worked had a job outside the home, in contrast to mothers of non-stunted children ( $p < 0.05$ ). Most stunted children experienced a lack of energy and protein consumption, were exposed to cigarette smoke, did not take multivitamin supplements, had a history of diarrhea, were sick more often, and were hospitalized, different from compared to non-stunted children ( $p < 0.05$ ). Based on the history of the disease, there were two infectious diseases observed in this study, namely diarrhea and ARI. Children with stunting experienced diarrhea infections higher more often than children without stunting ( $p < 0.05$ ). However, in stunted and non-stunted children, there was no difference in the proportion of history of respiratory tract infection/ARI ( $p > 0.05$ ). The results also showed it was also found that stunted children were more exposed to cigarette smoke and consumed fewer protein supplements than non-stunting stunted children ( $p < 0.05$ ).

There is a reciprocal interaction between infectious diseases (diarrhea and ARI) with nutritional status. Malnutrition can increase the risk of infection, while infection can which then can cause malnutrition. Children with malnutrition, who have with lower body resistance to diseases, are more likely to fall ill; their reduced nutrition will reduce their capacity to fight diseases and interfere with their growth period [27], [31].

### 3.2. Differences in consumption of protein, energy, carbohydrates, fats, and fatty acids in stunted and non-stunted children

Malnutrition in children is a global public health problem with broad implications. Malnourished children have an increased risk of dying from infectious diseases. It is estimated that malnutrition is the underlying cause of 45% of global deaths in children below five years. Lack of protein intake can cause stunted growth and bone maturity because protein is an essential nutrient in the growth period. Even though the energy intake is adequate, if protein intake is lacking, it will inhibit the children's growth and development of children under five. The nutrition survey results in stunted and non-stunted children are presented in Table 2.



Table 2. Comparison of consumption of protein, carbohydrates, fats, and fatty acids in stunted and non-stunted children at PHC Jetis 1, Bantul

Characteristic	Stunting Stunted (n=40)	Normal Non-stunted (n=40)	p
Energy (kcal)	628.02±143.82	1400.44±423.03	0.00**
Carbohydrate (gram)	87.32±23.51	179.37±79.97	0.00**
Pufa (gram)	7.92±17.68	8.68±4.68	0.72
Protein (gram)	19.00±3.32	49.87±13.46	0.00**
Ffat (gram)	22.79±6.05	49.95±16.02	0.00**

From table 2, it is known Table 2 shows that there are differences in the amount of energy, protein, carbohydrates, and fat consumption between stunted and non-stunted children. However, there is no difference between the two groups for fatty acid consumption in these two groups. Low protein intake is one of the risk factors for stunted growth in children aged 24-59 months. Where protein serves as a form of forms new tissue during the body growth and development of the body and maintains, repairs, and replaces damaged tissue. Even though their energy intake is adequate, children with a long-term protein deficiency that lasts long will experience stunted height growth [32], [33].

### 3.3. The relationship between energy and protein consumption with the incidence of stunting

We have performed a Pearson correlation analysis was performed to determine the relationship between the incidence of stunting and the adequacy of protein and energy consumption. The results of the correlation analysis of the adequacy of energy or protein consumption status with the incidence of stunting are presented in Table 3.

**Table 3.** The relationship between protein consumption and energy consumption with the incidence of stunting stunted and non-stunted children in the PHC Jetis I, Bantul, Yogyakarta

Variable		Pearson Correlation	P-Value
Stunting status	Status of lack of protein consumption	0,951**	0,000
	Status of lack Energy consumption	0,714**	0,000

note: Pearson test correlation

Based on the significant value of p-value and r-value from Table 3, it is known that there is a relationship correlation between the status of protein consumption and the incidence of stunting. This study indicates found that protein consumption for almost in nearly all stunting stunted children (95.0%) has a low level of protein adequacy was low. Meanwhile while in all non-stunted children (100%), are all at an adequate level of protein adequacy the consumption was adequate. Protein is one of the nutrients needed by humans, especially for the growth and development of a child. (The previous data is in line with the result data.) Stunting Stunted children have significantly lower protein intake than non-stunted children. Children who lack protein consumption will be at higher risk of stunting compared to those whose protein consumption is adequate [5], [34]. Based on the significant value of p-value and r from Table 3, it is known that there is a relationship correlation between the status of energy consumption and the incidence of stunting. From various research results, PEM is one of the forms of malnutrition that reduces physical quality and lowers the body's resistance, resulting in an increased risk of illness and death, especially in vulnerable groups. It has been shown that the level of energy consumption is related to the incidence of stunting in children under five years. Toddlers with low energy consumption have a higher risk of stunting than toddlers with sufficient energy consumption levels [35].

Stunting conditions Stunted growth have has been associated with a decreased ability of the weakened immune system [16]. because (The chemotactic ability of granulocytes in stunted children has decreased). Results for phagocytosis were mixed: five of 12 studies found that leukocytes of malnourished children had reduced ability to ingest particles or bacteria [32]. The results of other studies also show that stunting stunted children experience a decrease in complement system activity. The complement system plays an essential role in self-defense against infection as a natural defense system. Nutritional energy and protein

Paper's should be the fewest possible that accurately describe ... (First Author)

**Commented [HA5]:** Please clarify what is meant by previous data.

**Commented [HA6]:** Since it is mentioned for the first time, it is better to write the extension...

deficiencies are associated with an increased incidence of rotavirus infection in children under five years of age. Studies conducted in Angola and Bangladesh observed an association between different types of undernutrition with rotavirus A infection[36],[37].

#### 4. CONCLUSION (10 PT)

Stunted children are more susceptible to diarrhea, more frequent and longer sickness, and hospitalized more often when compared to non-stunted children. They also consume less energy, protein, carbohydrates, and fat. Consumption of energy and protein is associated with the incidence of stunting.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS (10 PT)

The authors thank all volunteers who became the research respondents. The authors also thank the Head of LPPM UAD (Community Service Institute, Ahmad Dahlan University) for providing research funding assistance. The authors would also like to thank the management and staff of the Public Health Center Jetis I for providing permits, support, and facilities for conducting this research.

#### REFERENCES (10 PT)

- [1] J. N. Wambura and B. Marnane, "Undernutrition of HEU infants in their first 1000 days of life: A case in the urban-low resource setting of Mukuru Slum, Nairobi, Kenya," *Heliyon*, vol. 5, no. 7, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02073.
- [2] J. H. Humphrey *et al.*, "Independent and combined effects of improved water, sanitation, and hygiene, and improved complementary feeding, on child stunting and anaemia in rural Zimbabwe: a cluster-randomised trial," *Lancet Glob. Heal.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. e132–e147, 2019, doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30374-7.
- [3] V. M. Aguayo and P. Menon, "Stop stunting: Improving child feeding, women's nutrition and household sanitation in South Asia," *Matern. Child Nutr.*, vol. 12, pp. 3–11, 2016, doi: 10.1111/mcn.12283.
- [4] C. N. Rachmi, M. Li, and L. A. Baur, "The double burden of malnutrition in Association of South East Asian Nations (ASEAN) countries: A comprehensive review of the literature," *Asia Pac. J. Clin. Nutr.*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 736–755, 2018, doi: 10.6133/apjcn.062018.02.
- [5] Kemenkes RI, "Situasi Balita Pendek (Stunting) di Indonesia," *Kementeri. Kesehat. RI*, vol. 301, no. 5, pp. 1163–1178, 2018.
- [6] G. B. Moreau *et al.*, "Childhood growth and neurocognition are associated with distinct sets of metabolites," *EBioMedicine*, vol. 44, pp. 597–606, Jun. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.05.043.
- [7] I. Budiastutik and A. Nugraheni, "Determinants of Stunting in Indonesia: A Review Article," *Int. J. Heal. Res.*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 2620–5580, 2018.
- [8] R. Kim *et al.*, "Assessing associational strength of 23 correlates of child anthropometric failure: An econometric analysis of the 2015–2016 National Family Health Survey, India," *Soc. Sci. Med.*, vol. 238, no. June 2019, p. 112374, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112374.
- [9] T. Mahmudiono, C. Segalita, and R. R. Rosenkranz, "Socio-ecological model of correlates of double burden of malnutrition in developing countries: A narrative review," *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*, vol. 16, no. 19, 2019, doi: 10.3390/ijerph16193730.
- [10] V. Uwiringiyimana, M. C. Ocké, S. Amer, and A. Veldkamp, "Data on child complementary feeding practices, nutrient intake and stunting in Musanze District, Rwanda," *Data Br.*, vol. 21, pp. 334–342, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.dib.2018.09.084.
- [11] K. G. Dewey, "Reducing stunting by improving maternal, infant and young child nutrition in regions such as South Asia: Evidence, challenges and opportunities," *Matern. Child Nutr.*, vol. 12, pp. 27–38, 2016, doi: 10.1111/mcn.12282.
- [12] L. R. Buisman, E. Van de Poel, O. O'Donnell, and E. K. A. van Doorslaer, "What explains the fall in child stunting in Sub-Saharan Africa?," *SSM - Popul. Heal.*, vol. 8, no. March, p. 100384, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2019.100384.
- [13] C. L. Gregson *et al.*, "Older age at initiation of antiretroviral therapy predicts low bone mineral density in children with perinatally-infected HIV in Zimbabwe," *Bone*, vol. 125, no. December 2018, pp. 96–102, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2019.05.012.
- [14] F. C. Taliwongso, J. I. C. Manoppo, and A. Umboh, "Hubungan Stunting dengan Angka Kejadian Diare pada Siswa Sekolah Dasar di Kecamatan Tikala Manado," *e-CliniC*, vol. 5, no. 2, 2017, doi: 10.35790/ecl.5.2.2017.18526.
- [15] E. J. Sobo, "What is herd immunity, and how does it relate to pediatric vaccination uptake? US parent perspectives," *Soc. Sci. Med.*, vol. 165, pp. 187–195, Sep. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.06.015.
- [16] M. J. H. Rytter, L. Kolte, A. Briend, H. Friis, and V. B. Christensen, "The immune system in children with malnutrition - A systematic review," *PLoS One*, vol. 9, no. 8, 2014, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0105017.
- [17] A. M. Abd El-Maksoud, S. A. Khairy, H. M. Sharada, M. S. Abdalla, and N. F. Ahmed, "Evaluation of pro-inflammatory cytokines in nutritionally stunted Egyptian children," *Egypt. Pediatr. Assoc. Gaz.*, vol. 65, no. 3,

- pp. 80–84, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.epag.2017.04.003.
- [18] L. K. Dwivedi, K. Banerjee, N. Jain, M. Ranjan, and P. Dixit, "Child health and unhealthy sanitary practices in India: Evidence from Recent Round of National Family Health Survey-IV," *SSM - Popul. Heal.*, vol. 7, no. October 2018, p. 100313, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2018.10.013.
- [19] R. D. Semba, S. de Pee, M. O. Ricks, M. Sari, and M. W. Bloem, "Diarrhea and fever as risk factors for anemia among children under age five living in urban slum areas of Indonesia," *Int. J. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 62–70, 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2007.04.011.
- [20] Dinas Kesehatan DIY, "Profil Kesehatan D.I Yogyakarta tahun 2018," *Profil Kesehat. Drh. Istimewa Yogyakarta tahun 2018*, p. 32, 2019, [Online]. Available: <http://www.dinkes.jogjaprov.go.id/download/download/27>.
- [21] Kemenkes RI, *Profil Kesehatan Indonesia Tahun 2019*, vol. 42, no. 4, 2019.
- [22] M. A. Barffour *et al.*, "Effects of Daily Zinc, Daily Multiple Micronutrient Powder, or Therapeutic Zinc Supplementation for Diarrhea Prevention on Physical Growth, Anemia, and Micronutrient Status in Rural Laotian Children: A Randomized Controlled Trial," *J. Pediatr.*, vol. 207, pp. 80–89.e2, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.11.022.
- [23] "Exploring the broader consequences of diarrhoeal diseases on child health." [Online]. Available: [www.thelancet.com/lancetgh](http://www.thelancet.com/lancetgh).
- [24] L. M. Nasreddine, A. N. Kassib, J. J. Ayoub, F. A. Naja, and N. C. Hwalla, "Nutritional status and dietary intakes of children amid the nutrition transition: the case of the Eastern Mediterranean Region," *Nutr. Res.*, vol. 57, pp. 12–27, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2018.04.016.
- [25] N. Nisbett, P. Davis, S. Yosef, and N. Akhtar, "Bangladesh's story of change in nutrition: Strong improvements in basic and underlying determinants with an unfinished agenda for direct community level support," *Glob. Food Sec.*, vol. 13, no. January, pp. 21–29, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.gfs.2017.01.005.
- [26] J. Ahishakiye, L. Bouwman, I. D. Brouwer, E. Matsiko, M. Armar-Klemesu, and M. Koelen, "Challenges and responses to infant and young child feeding in rural Rwanda: A qualitative study," *J. Heal. Popul. Nutr.*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2019, doi: 10.1186/s41043-019-0207-z.
- [27] R. L. Bailey, K. P. West, and R. E. Black, "The epidemiology of global micronutrient deficiencies," *Ann. Nutr. Metab.*, vol. 66, no. suppl 2, pp. 22–33, 2015, doi: 10.1159/000371618.
- [28] S. Kureishy *et al.*, "A mixed methods study to assess the effectiveness of food-based interventions to prevent stunting among children under-five years in Districts Thatta and Sujawal, Sindh Province, Pakistan: Study protocol," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 1–6, 2017, doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3976-y.
- [29] P. A. M. Mtenda and Y. C. Chuang, "Analysis of individual-level and community-level effects on childhood undernutrition in Malawi," *Pediatr. Neonatol.*, vol. 59, no. 4, pp. 380–389, Aug. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.pedneo.2017.11.019.
- [30] L. A. Bartelt, D. T. Bolick, and R. L. Guerrant, "Disentangling Microbial Mediators of Malnutrition: Modeling Environmental Enteric Dysfunction," *Cmgh*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 692–707, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2018.12.006.
- [31] M. Parenti, S. McClorry, E. A. Maga, and C. M. Slupsky, "Metabolomic changes in severe acute malnutrition suggest hepatic oxidative stress: a secondary analysis," *Nutr. Res.*, vol. 91, pp. 44–56, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2021.05.005.
- [32] M. R. K. Chowdhury, M. S. Rahman, M. M. H. Khan, M. N. I. Mondal, M. M. Rahman, and B. Billah, "Risk factors for child malnutrition in Bangladesh: A multilevel analysis of a nationwide population-based survey," *J. Pediatr.*, vol. 172, pp. 194–201.e1, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.01.023.
- [33] J. Hadisuyitno and B. D. Riyadi, "Determinant Factors of Stunting Events of Toddler in Batu City Indonesia," *Syst. Rev. Pharm.*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 231–234, 2021, doi: 10.31838/srp.2021.1.37.
- [34] V. Uwiringiyimana, M. C. Ocké, S. Amer, and A. Veldkamp, "Data on child complementary feeding practices, nutrient intake and stunting in Musanze District, Rwanda," *Data Br.*, vol. 21, pp. 334–342, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.dib.2018.09.084.
- [35] T. IAKMI, "Atlas Tembakau Indonesia Tahun 2020," p. 33, 2020, [Online]. Available: <http://www.tesc-indonesia.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Atlas-Tembakau-Indonesia-2020.pdf>.
- [36] M. Kurata, K. Takahashi, and A. Hibiki, "Gender differences in associations of household and ambient air pollution with child health: Evidence from household and satellite-based data in Bangladesh," *World Dev.*, vol. 128, p. 104779, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.104779.
- [37] A. Chisssaque *et al.*, "Rotavirus A infection in children under five years old with a double health problem: undernutrition and diarrhoea – a cross-sectional study in four provinces of Mozambique," *BMC Infect. Dis.*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 1–13, 2021, doi: 10.1186/s12879-020-05718-9.

## Infection and Undernutrition Increase the Risk of Stunting among Rural Children

Akrom<sup>1,5</sup>, Titiek Hidayati<sup>2</sup>, Olyvia Wulan Kencana<sup>1</sup>, Nur Cholid Umam<sup>3</sup>, Prasasti Bintarum<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Pharmacology and Clinical Pharmacy Department, Pharmacy Faculty, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

<sup>2</sup>Public health and Family Medicine department, Medicine and Health science Faculty, Universitas Muhammadiyah Yogyakarta, Indonesia

<sup>3</sup>Paediatrics Department, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

<sup>4</sup>Non-infectious Disease Department of Public Health Centre Jetis 1, Bantul, D.I. Yogyakarta, Indonesia

<sup>5</sup>Ahmad Dahlan Drug Information and Research Center, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

### Article Info

#### Article history:

Received month dd, yyyy

Revised month dd, yyyy

Accepted month dd, yyyy

#### Keywords:

Infection history

Protein consumption

Stunting children

Case-controlled study

Public Health center

### ABSTRACT (10 PT)

The prevalence of stunting in Indonesia is still high. Stunting is found to be more common in rural areas than in urban areas. This study aims to determine the factors associated with stunting in rural areas. We conducted a case-controlled study in Public Health Center Jetis 1 Yogyakarta. We recruited 80 children with the purposive sampling technique. Data on birth weight and disease history were taken from their medical records. Data on consumption patterns of energy, protein, carbohydrate, and fat were collected through a nutritional survey. Different proportions were tested using the Fisher test and the mean difference was tested using an independent t-test. The results showed that child stunting had lower energy and protein consumption levels than non-stunting children ( $p = 0.000$ ). Diarrheal infection, frequency, and duration of illness were more common in stunted than in non-stunted children ( $p < 0.05$ ). Consumption of protein and energy was associated with stunting ( $p < 0.05$ ). This research found differences in the incidence of infection, frequency, length of illness, and hospital stay between stunted and non-stunted children, and a significant association between the consumption of protein and energy with stunted growth in children in rural Public Health Children.

This is an open access article under the [CC BY-SA](https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/4.0/) license.



### Corresponding Author:

Yu-Tzu Wu

EACH: The Centre for Research in Ageing and Cognitive Health, University of Exeter

South Cloisters, St Luke's Campus, Exeter, EX1 2LU, United Kingdom

Email: Y.Wu3@exeter.ac.uk

### 1. INTRODUCTION (10 PT)

Stunting is one of the most common nutritional problems in children in developing countries including Indonesia [1], [2]. Currently, the global prevalence of stunting is 22% [3]. According to WHO, Indonesia is ranked third in the highest prevalence of stunting under five with 36% [4]. The Special Region of Yogyakarta is one of the provinces with a high prevalence of stunting in Indonesia [5]. Stunting is a problem because it is associated with an increased risk of morbidity and mortality [6], [7]. Stunting is caused by many factors including direct factors such as food intake and chronic infectious diseases and indirect factors such as economic, cultural, educational, occupational factors, environmental hygiene factors, and health care facilities [8], [9]. The direct factors are determined by food intake [10], which includes protein, and infections that often coincide [11]. Cigarette exposure also increases the risk of stunting [12], especially when a child has a weak immune system. As a result, the child will be more susceptible to illness, which can cause a decrease in nutritional intake in the child's body. Diarrhea and respiratory tract infections are the most common infections in children [13], [14]. Children with weaker immune are more susceptible to infection [15]. Stunted

children are thought to have weaker immunity[16]. It is suspected that there are differences in protein consumption and a history of infectious diseases between stunted and non-stunted children[17]. It is also suspected that there is a disparity in stunting prevalence and determinants between rural and urban areas[18]. Urban areas which tend to have better facilities and availability of resources are associated with a lower incidence of stunting[19]. Based on the annual performance report of the Bantul Health Office, it is known that malnutrition in the region is 0.31% [20]. Respiratory tract infections are the second-largest outpatients at Bantul's Public Health Center (PHC). Pneumonia in children under five in Bantul Regency was reported in 2020 to have reached 424 cases. The diarrhea morbidity rate in Bantul Regency in 2020 was 64.53 per 1000 population[21]. Although diarrhea is not included in the top ten diseases at the PHC, diarrhea in children can have a long-term impact[22], [23].

Chronic malnutrition is associated with stunting and infection in children under five[24]. Long-term malnutrition can disrupt the child's immune system development[25]. Whether malnutrition increases the incidence of infection or increases the severity of the disease remains debatable[26]. The data show that malnourished children have a higher risk of death after infection[27]. The increased susceptibility to infection may be partly due to decreased immune function by malnutrition[16], and infections and deaths in malnourished children are common in low-income environments. Stunted children are at high risk of infection, including respiratory tract infections. Diarrhea is one of the infectious diseases that can cause impaired absorption and even loss of nutrients, and if it is not treated and balanced with a appropriate intake, growth will stunt[28], [29]. In addition, when children have diarrhea, they lose their appetite that further reduces nutritional intake and the nutrients consumed are not absorbed properly by the body. Also, in the same area, another study reported undernutrition as one of the risk factors for mortality in children with moderate-severe-diarrhea [22], [30]. This study aims to determine differences in the incidence of infection, frequency and duration of illness and hospitalization in stunted and non-stunted children, and identify differences in the amount of energy and protein consumption between the two groups.

## 2. METHOD (10 PT)

### 2.1. Research Design

This research was an analytical observational study with a case-control design. This study combined interview and questionnaires to collect data on infection and a questionnaire for measuring food intake with 24-hour nutritional recall in children under five years old. For 3 x 24 hours, researchers trained in food recall interviews asked the respondents about food intake data directly to biological mothers or foster mothers. In addition, this study also used secondary data from the medical records of the Public Health Center (PHC) Jetis 1 Bantul, Yogyakarta.

### 2.2. Population and sample

The population in this study were stunted and non-stunted children in the working area of PHC Jetis 1, Bantul, Yogyakarta. There were 77 stunted toddlers in the working area of PHC Jetis 1. Purposive sampling method with inclusion and exclusion criteria were used to select respondents. Inclusion criteria were children aged 24 months – 59 months, children without disability / abnormalities (stump leg, small foot on one side), and mother was willing to be a research respondent. Exclusion criteria were children with special needs and mothers who resigned from the research. Based on the inclusion criteria, 40 stunted toddlers were selected; and because this study used case-control with a ratio of 1 : 1, the sample size for the control group was also 40 children under five, so that the total sample was 80 toddlers. A sample of 80 children was taken from the PHC Jetis 1 Working Area, precisely from Trimulyo village, in August-September 2019.

### 2.3. Research Instrument

This study used questionnaire with several written questions which can be used to obtain information from the respondents. Two types of questionnaires were used: (1) a Questionnaire of respondents' characteristics and infection history, which collected respondents' demographic data such as names of mothers and toddlers, gender of toddlers, ages of mothers and toddlers, the height of toddlers, weight of toddlers, environmental sanitation, and history of infectious diseases of toddlers using 53 question items; and (2) 24-hour Food Memory Questionnaire (24-hour Food Recall) which was used three times (1x24 hours) to produce a more optimal picture of nutrient intake and provide a greater variety of individual daily intakes. In addition, the Food Recall method can obtain a quantitative picture of the calories consumed daily by respondents. The Food Recall assessment was used to obtain data on food ingredients consumed by respondents within 24 hours. Nutrient consumption data was obtained utilizing food recall 1x24 hours, which were then converted into energy and nutrients using the List of Food Ingredients (LFI). The data were processed using Nutrisurvey 2007 software to measure the level of protein and energy consumption per individual respondent. Furthermore, the data were processed using statistical analysis of IBM SPSS 22.00 for assessment and categorization. Results from 24-hour food recall were divided in two

categories: sufficient or low consumption per individual. Protein consumption is considered sufficient if it is 35 grams/day and low if it is <35 grams/day. Sufficient energy consumption is if the consumption is 1600kcal/day; and low consumption is if the energy consumption is <1600kcal/day.

## 2.4. Research Procedure

### 2.4.1. Preparation stage

We identify the problems that exist in the community before preparing the research proposal and determine the area to be selected as the research location at random. The next stage is the preparation of the protocol, the preparation of the questionnaire and data collection forms, and the preliminary test. Primary data collection from the research subjects' families was carried out after obtaining informed consent through interviews and data collection forms. We collected secondary data related to weight by age, height by age, and the percentage incidence of malnutrition from the nutrition management section at the PHC Jetis 1, Bantul, Yogyakarta. Respondents were selected using the purposive sampling technique and primary data were collected through questionnaires and interviews related to food intake, especially protein intake and history of infectious diseases.

### 2.4.2. Implementation stage

#### 2.4.2.1. Subject Recruitment

We visited the respondent's house and if the respondent met the inclusion criteria, the researcher asked the toddler's parents for their availability to be interviewed. We started by explaining the objectives and benefits of becoming research subjects to the respondent. If the respondent agreed, then they were asked to give their signature on the informed consent.

#### 2.4.2.2. Data collection procedure

Data were collected through guided interviews with a questionnaire. The researcher gave an infection questionnaire which contained a list of questions, which were filled by circling the given answers, and a 24-hour food recall questionnaire by interviewing the toddlers' parents. After all the questionnaires were completed, the researcher checked the completeness of the questionnaire and then carried out data processing, data analysis, and reporting.

## 2.5. Data Analysis

Bivariate analyses were conducted to test the proportions of the two groups using the Fisher test to identify sex proportion, age group, birth weight, parental occupation, parental education, energy, and protein consumption status, history of diarrhea and ARI, frequency and duration of illness, history of hospitalization, exposure to cigarettes, and consumption of multivitamins). The mean difference between groups of stunted and non-stunted children was tested using an independent t-test on the total consumption of energy, carbohydrates, protein, fat and fatty acids. We also conducted a simple correlation analysis (Bivariate Correlation) to determine the relationship between each variable protein consumption and energy consumption indicators with the incidence of stunting in children.

## 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION (10 PT)

### 3.1. Description of Respondents Characteristics

Respondents sampled in this study were stunted children as cases and non-stunted children as controls with an age range of 24-59 months within the working area of the Public Health Center Jetis 1 in August-September 2019 giving a total of 80 respondents. Table 1 shows the respondents' characteristics based on gender, age, history of LBW, parental education, and parental occupation.

Table 1. Demographic characteristics, history of energy and protein consumption, birth weight, exposure to cigarette smoke, consumption of multivitamins, diarrheal illness and ARI, frequency and length of illness, history of hospitalization and education, and mothers' occupation of stunted and non-stunted children at PHC Jetis 1, Bantul.

characteristic	Stunted (n=40) (%)	Non-stunted (n=40) (%)	p
Sex (Male/Female)	27 (67.5)	26 (65)	0.81
Age (24-41/42-59 month)	24 (60)	25 (62.5)	0.82
LBW history (yes/no)	6 (15)	3 (7.5)	0.11
Mother with 9 years Education (no/yes)	14 (35)	17 (42.5)	0.39
Mother's job (housewife/working woman)	6 (15)	24 (60)	0.00**
Protein consumption status (low/enough)	37 (92.5)	0 (0)	0.00**
Energy consumption (low/enough)	38 (95)	13 (32.5)	0.00**
Tobacco smoke exposure (yes/no)	33 (82.5)	10 (25)	0.00**
Multivitamin consumption (yes/no)	14 (35)	22 (55)	0.04*

*Paper's should be the fewest possible that accurately describe ... (First Author)*

Diarrhea history (yes)	40 (100)	3 (7.5)	0.00**
Acute Respiratory Infection history (yes)	40 (100)	30(75)	0.06
More than 6x Diseases (yes/no)	35 (87.5)	3 (7.5)	0.00**
More than 7 days of illness (yes)	34 (85)	11 (27.5)	0.00**
Hospitalization history (yes)	30 (75)	11(27.5)	0.00**

Table 1 shows that most of the respondents were male, aged between 24–41 months, had an average birth weight, and had a history of maternal education of nine years or longer. There was no difference in the demographic characteristics and weight at birth between the two groups. Most mothers of stunted children had a job outside the home, in contrast to mothers of non-stunted children ( $p < 0.05$ ). Most stunted children experienced a lack of energy and protein consumption, were exposed to cigarette smoke, did not take multivitamin supplements, had a history of diarrhea, were sick more often, and were hospitalized, compared to non-stunted children ( $p < 0.05$ ). Based on the history of the disease, there were two infectious diseases observed in this study, namely diarrhea and ARI. Children with stunting experienced diarrhea infections more often than children without stunting ( $p < 0.05$ ). However, in stunted and non-stunted children, there was no difference in the proportion of history of respiratory tract infection/ARI ( $p > 0.05$ ). It was also found that stunted children were more exposed to cigarette smoke and consumed fewer protein supplements than non-stunted children ( $p < 0.05$ ).

There is a reciprocal interaction between infectious diseases (diarrhea and ARI) with nutritional status. Malnutrition can increase the risk of infection, which then can cause malnutrition. Children with malnutrition, with lower body resistance to diseases, are more likely to fall ill; their reduced nutrition will reduce their capacity to fight diseases and interfere with their growth period[27], [31].

### 3.2. Differences in consumption of protein, energy, carbohydrates, fats, and fatty acids in stunted and non-stunted children

Malnutrition in children is a global public health problem with broad implications. Malnourished children have an increased risk of dying from infectious diseases. It is estimated that malnutrition is the underlying cause of 45% of global deaths in children below five years. Lack of protein intake can cause stunted growth and bone maturity because protein is an essential nutrient in the growth period. Even though the energy intake is adequate, if protein intake is lacking, it will inhibit the children's growth and development. The nutrition survey results in stunted and non-stunted children are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Comparison of consumption of protein, carbohydrates, fats, and fatty acids in stunted and non-stunted children at PHC Jetis 1, Bantul

Characteristic	Stunted (n=40)	Non-stunted (n=40)	p
Energy (kcal)	628.02±143.82	1400.44±423.03	0.00**
Carbohydrate (gram)	87.32±23.51	179.37±79.97	0.00**
Pufa (gram)	7.92±17.68	8.68±4.68	0.72
Protein (gram)	19.00±3.32	49.87±13.46	0.00**
Fat (gram)	22.79±6.05	49.95±16.02	0.00**

Table 2 shows that there are differences in the amount of energy, protein, carbohydrates, and fat consumption between stunted and non-stunted children. However, there is no difference in fatty acid consumption in these two groups. Low protein intake is one of the risk factors for stunted growth in children aged 24–59 months. Protein forms new tissue during the body growth and development and maintains, repairs, and replaces damaged tissue. Even though their energy intake is adequate, children with long-term protein deficiency will experience stunted height growth[32], [33].

### 3.3. The relationship between energy and protein consumption with the incidence of stunting

Pearson correlation analysis was performed to determine the relationship between the incidence of stunting and the adequacy of protein and energy consumption. The results are presented in Table 3.

Table 3. The relationship between protein consumption and energy consumption with the incidence of stunted and non-stunted children in the PHC Jetis 1, Bantul, Yogyakarta

Variable	Pearson Correlation	P-Value
----------	---------------------	---------



Stunting status	Status of lack of protein consumption	0.951**	0.000
	Status of lack Energy consumption	0.714**	0.000

note: *Pearson test correlation*

Based on the significant p-value and r-value from Table 3, it is known that there is a correlation between the status of protein consumption and the incidence of stunting. This study found that protein consumption in nearly all stunted children (95.0%) was low while in all non-stunted children (100%), the consumption was adequate. Protein is one of the nutrients needed by humans, especially for growth and development. Previous research has shown that stunted children have a much lower protein intake than children who are not stunted. Children who lack protein consumption will be at higher risk of stunting compared to those whose protein consumption is adequate [5], [34]. Based on the significant p-value and r from Table 3, it is known that there is a correlation between the status of energy consumption and the incidence of stunting. From various research results, protein energy malnutrition (PEM) is one of the forms of malnutrition that reduces physical quality and lowers the body's resistance, resulting in an increased risk of illness and death, especially in vulnerable groups. It has been shown that the level of energy consumption is related to the incidence of stunting in children under five years. Toddlers with low energy consumption have a higher risk of stunting than toddlers with sufficient energy consumption levels [35].

Stunted growth has been associated with a weakened immune system [16] because the chemotactic ability of granulocytes in stunted children decreases. Results for phagocytosis were mixed: five of 12 studies found that leukocytes of malnourished children had reduced ability to ingest particles or bacteria [32]. The results of other studies also show that stunted children experience a decrease in complement system activity. The complement system plays an essential role in self-defense against infection as a natural defense system. Nutritional energy and protein deficiencies are associated with an increased incidence of rotavirus infection in children under five years of age. Studies conducted in Angola and Bangladesh observed an association between different types of undernutrition with rotavirus A infection [36], [37].

#### 4. CONCLUSION (10 PT)

Stunted children are more susceptible to diarrhea, more frequent and longer sickness, and hospitalized more often when compared to non-stunted children. They also consume less energy, protein, carbohydrates, and fat. Consumption of energy and protein is associated with the incidence of stunting.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS (10 PT)

The authors thank all volunteers who became the research respondents. The authors also thank the Head of LPPM UAD (Community Service Institute, Ahmad Dahlan University) for providing research funding assistance. The authors would also like to thank the management and staff of the Public Health Center Jetis 1 for providing permits, support, and facilities for conducting this research.

#### REFERENCES (10 PT)

- [1] J. N. Wambura and B. Marnane, "Undernutrition of HEU infants in their first 1000 days of life: A case in the urban-low resource setting of Mukuru Slum, Nairobi, Kenya," *Heliyon*, vol. 5, no. 7, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02073.
- [2] J. H. Humphrey *et al.*, "Independent and combined effects of improved water, sanitation, and hygiene, and improved complementary feeding, on child stunting and anaemia in rural Zimbabwe: a cluster-randomised trial," *Lancet Glob. Heal.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. e132–e147, 2019, doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30374-7.
- [3] V. M. Aguayo and P. Menon, "Stop stunting: Improving child feeding, women's nutrition and household sanitation in South Asia," *Matern. Child Nutr.*, vol. 12, pp. 3–11, 2016, doi: 10.1111/mcn.12283.
- [4] C. N. Rachmi, M. Li, and L. A. Baur, "The double burden of malnutrition in Association of South East Asian Nations (ASEAN) countries: A comprehensive review of the literature," *Asia Pac. J. Clin. Nutr.*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 736–755, 2018, doi: 10.6133/apjcn.062018.02.
- [5] Kemenkes RI, "Situasi Balita Pendek (Stunting) di Indonesia," *Kementeri. Kesehat. RI*, vol. 301, no. 5, pp. 1163–1178, 2018.
- [6] G. B. Moreau *et al.*, "Childhood growth and neurocognition are associated with distinct sets of metabolites," *EBioMedicine*, vol. 44, pp. 597–606, Jun. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.05.043.
- [7] I. Budiastutik and A. Nugraheni, "Determinants of Stunting in Indonesia: A Review Article," *Int. J. Heal. Res.*,



- vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 2620–5580, 2018.
- [8] R. Kim *et al.*, “Assessing associational strength of 23 correlates of child anthropometric failure: An econometric analysis of the 2015–2016 National Family Health Survey, India,” *Soc. Sci. Med.*, vol. 238, no. June 2019, p. 112374, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112374.
- [9] T. Mahmudiono, C. Segalita, and R. R. Rosenkranz, “Socio-ecological model of correlates of double burden of malnutrition in developing countries: A narrative review,” *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*, vol. 16, no. 19, 2019, doi: 10.3390/ijerph16193730.
- [10] V. Uwiringiyimana, M. C. Ocké, S. Amer, and A. Veldkamp, “Data on child complementary feeding practices, nutrient intake and stunting in Musanze District, Rwanda,” *Data Br.*, vol. 21, pp. 334–342, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.dib.2018.09.084.
- [11] K. G. Dewey, “Reducing stunting by improving maternal, infant and young child nutrition in regions such as South Asia: Evidence, challenges and opportunities,” *Matern. Child Nutr.*, vol. 12, pp. 27–38, 2016, doi: 10.1111/mcn.12282.
- [12] L. R. Buisman, E. Van de Poel, O. O’Donnell, and E. K. A. van Doorslaer, “What explains the fall in child stunting in Sub-Saharan Africa?,” *SSM - Popul. Heal.*, vol. 8, no. March, p. 100384, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2019.100384.
- [13] C. L. Gregson *et al.*, “Older age at initiation of antiretroviral therapy predicts low bone mineral density in children with perinatally-infected HIV in Zimbabwe,” *Bone*, vol. 125, no. December 2018, pp. 96–102, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2019.05.012.
- [14] F. C. Taliwongso, J. I. C. Manoppo, and A. Umboh, “Hubungan Stunting dengan Angka Kejadian Diare pada Siswa Sekolah Dasar di Kecamatan Tikala Manado,” *e-CliniC*, vol. 5, no. 2, 2017, doi: 10.35790/ecl.5.2.2017.18526.
- [15] E. J. Sobro, “What is herd immunity, and how does it relate to pediatric vaccination uptake? US parent perspectives,” *Soc. Sci. Med.*, vol. 165, pp. 187–195, Sep. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.06.015.
- [16] M. J. H. Rytter, L. Kolte, A. Briend, H. Friis, and V. B. Christensen, “The immune system in children with malnutrition - A systematic review,” *PLoS One*, vol. 9, no. 8, 2014, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0105017.
- [17] A. M. Abd El-Maksoud, S. A. Khairy, H. M. Sharada, M. S. Abdalla, and N. F. Ahmed, “Evaluation of pro-inflammatory cytokines in nutritionally stunted Egyptian children,” *Egypt. Pediatr. Assoc. Gaz.*, vol. 65, no. 3, pp. 80–84, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.epag.2017.04.003.
- [18] L. K. Dwivedi, K. Banerjee, N. Jain, M. Ranjan, and P. Dixit, “Child health and unhealthy sanitary practices in India: Evidence from Recent Round of National Family Health Survey-IV,” *SSM - Popul. Heal.*, vol. 7, no. October 2018, p. 100313, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2018.10.013.
- [19] R. D. Semba, S. de Pee, M. O. Ricks, M. Sari, and M. W. Bloem, “Diarrhea and fever as risk factors for anemia among children under age five living in urban slum areas of Indonesia,” *Int. J. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 62–70, 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2007.04.011.
- [20] Dinas Kesehatan DIY, “Profil Kesehatan D.I Yogyakarta tahun 2018,” *Profil Kesehat. Drh. Istimewa Yogyakarta tahun 2018*, p. 32, 2019, [Online]. Available: <http://www.dinkes.jogjaprovo.go.id/download/download/27>.
- [21] Kemenkes RI, *Profil Kesehatan Indonesia Tahun 2019*, vol. 42, no. 4, 2019.
- [22] M. A. Barffour *et al.*, “Effects of Daily Zinc, Daily Multiple Micronutrient Powder, or Therapeutic Zinc Supplementation for Diarrhea Prevention on Physical Growth, Anemia, and Micronutrient Status in Rural Laotian Children: A Randomized Controlled Trial,” *J. Pediatr.*, vol. 207, pp. 80–89.e2, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.11.022.
- [23] “Exploring the broader consequences of diarrhoeal diseases on child health.” [Online]. Available: [www.thelancet.com/lancetgh](http://www.thelancet.com/lancetgh).
- [24] L. M. Nasreddine, A. N. Kassis, J. J. Ayoub, F. A. Naja, and N. C. Hwalla, “Nutritional status and dietary intakes of children amid the nutrition transition: the case of the Eastern Mediterranean Region,” *Nutr. Res.*, vol. 57, pp. 12–27, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2018.04.016.
- [25] N. Nisbett, P. Davis, S. Yosef, and N. Akhtar, “Bangladesh’s story of change in nutrition: Strong improvements in basic and underlying determinants with an unfinished agenda for direct community level support,” *Glob. Food Sec.*, vol. 13, no. January, pp. 21–29, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.gfs.2017.01.005.
- [26] J. Ahishakiye, L. Bouwman, I. D. Brouwer, E. Matsiko, M. Armar-Klemesu, and M. Koelen, “Challenges and responses to infant and young child feeding in rural Rwanda: A qualitative study,” *J. Heal. Popul. Nutr.*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2019, doi: 10.1186/s41043-019-0207-z.
- [27] R. L. Bailey, K. P. West, and R. E. Black, “The epidemiology of global micronutrient deficiencies,” *Ann. Nutr. Metab.*, vol. 66, no. suppl 2, pp. 22–33, 2015, doi: 10.1159/000371618.
- [28] S. Kureishy *et al.*, “A mixed methods study to assess the effectiveness of food-based interventions to prevent stunting among children under-five years in Districts Thatta and Sujawal, Sindh Province, Pakistan: Study protocol,” *BMC Public Health*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 1–6, 2017, doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3976-y.
- [29] P. A. M. Ntenda and Y. C. Chuang, “Analysis of individual-level and community-level effects on childhood undernutrition in Malawi,” *Pediatr. Neonatol.*, vol. 59, no. 4, pp. 380–389, Aug. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.pedneo.2017.11.019.
- [30] L. A. Bartelt, D. T. Bolick, and R. L. Guerrant, “Disentangling Microbial Mediators of Malnutrition: Modeling Environmental Enteric Dysfunction,” *Cmgh*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 692–707, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2018.12.006.
- [31] M. Parenti, S. McClorry, E. A. Maga, and C. M. Slupsky, “Metabolomic changes in severe acute malnutrition

- suggest hepatic oxidative stress: a secondary analysis,” *Nutr. Res.*, vol. 91, pp. 44–56, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2021.05.005.
- [32] M. R. K. Chowdhury, M. S. Rahman, M. M. H. Khan, M. N. I. Mondal, M. M. Rahman, and B. Billah, “Risk factors for child malnutrition in Bangladesh: A multilevel analysis of a nationwide population-based survey,” *J. Pediatr.*, vol. 172, pp. 194–201.e1, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.01.023.
- [33] J. Hadisuyitno and B. D. Riyadi, “Determinant Factors of Stunting Events of Toddler in Batu City Indonesia,” *Syst. Rev. Pharm.*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 231–234, 2021, doi: 10.31838/srp.2021.1.37.
- [34] V. Uwiringiyimana, M. C. Ocké, S. Amer, and A. Veldkamp, “Data on child complementary feeding practices, nutrient intake and stunting in Musanze District, Rwanda,” *Data Br.*, vol. 21, pp. 334–342, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.dib.2018.09.084.
- [35] T. IAKMI, “Atlas Tembakau Indonesia Tahun 2020,” p. 33, 2020, [Online]. Available: <http://www.tcsc-indonesia.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Atlas-Tembakau-Indonesia-2020.pdf>.
- [36] M. Kurata, K. Takahashi, and A. Hibiki, “Gender differences in associations of household and ambient air pollution with child health: Evidence from household and satellite-based data in Bangladesh,” *World Dev.*, vol. 128, p. 104779, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.104779.
- [37] A. Chissaque *et al.*, “Rotavirus A infection in children under five years old with a double health problem: undernutrition and diarrhoea – a cross-sectional study in four provinces of Mozambique,” *BMC Infect. Dis.*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 1–13, 2021, doi: 10.1186/s12879-020-05718-9.

## Infection and undernutrition increase the risk of stunting among rural children

Akrom Akrom<sup>1</sup>, Titiék Hidayati<sup>2</sup>, Olyvia Wulan Kencana<sup>1</sup>, Nur Cholid Umam<sup>3</sup>, Prasasti Bintarum<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Pharmacology and Clinical Pharmacy Department, Pharmacy Faculty, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

<sup>1</sup>Ahmad Dahlan Drug Information and Research Center, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

<sup>2</sup>Public Health and Family Medicine Department, Medicine and Health science Faculty, Universitas Muhammadiyah Yogyakarta, Indonesia

<sup>3</sup>Paediatrics Department, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

<sup>4</sup>Non-infectious Disease Department of Public Health Centre Jetis 1, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

### Article Info

#### Article history:

Received Dec 6, 2021

Revised May 3, 2022

Accepted June 25, 2022

#### Keywords:

Children

Energy consumption

Infection history

Protein consumption

Public health center

Stunting

### ABSTRACT

The prevalence of stunting in Indonesia is remaining high. Stunting is found to be more common in rural areas than in urban areas. This study aimed to determine the factors associated with stunting in rural areas. We conducted a case-controlled study in Public Health Center Jetis 1 Yogyakarta, Indonesia. We recruited 80 children with the purposive sampling technique. Data on birth weight and disease history were taken from their medical records. Data on consumption patterns of energy, protein, carbohydrate, and fat were collected through a nutritional survey. Different proportions were tested using the fisher test and the mean difference was tested using an independent t-test. The results showed that child stunting had lower energy and protein consumption levels than non-stunting children ( $p=0.000$ ). Diarrheal infection, frequency, and duration of illness were more common in stunted than in non-stunted children ( $p<0.05$ ). Consumption of protein and energy was associated with stunting ( $p<0.05$ ). This research found differences in the incidence of infection, frequency, length of illness, and hospital stay between stunted and non-stunted children. There is a significant association between the consumption of protein and energy with stunted growth in children in rural public health children.

This is an open access article under the [CC BY-SA](https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/4.0/) license.



### Corresponding Author:

Akrom Akrom

Pharmacology and Clinical Pharmacy Department, Pharmacy Faculty, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan

Jl. Prof. DR. Soepomo Sh, Warungboto, Umbulharjo, Yogyakarta, Special Region of Yogyakarta,

Indonesia

Email: akrom@pharm.uad.ac.id

## 1. INTRODUCTION

Stunting is one of the most common nutritional problems in children in developing countries including Indonesia [1], [2]. Currently, the global prevalence of stunting is 22% [3]. According to World Health Organization (WHO), Indonesia is ranked third in the highest prevalence of stunting under five with 36% [4]. The Special Region of Yogyakarta is one of the provinces with a high prevalence of stunting in Indonesia [5]. Stunting is a problem because it is associated with an increased risk of morbidity and mortality [6], [7]. Stunting is caused by many factors including direct factors such as food intake and chronic infectious diseases and indirect factors such as economic, cultural, educational, occupational factors, environmental hygiene factors, and health care facilities [8], [9]. The direct factors are determined by food intake [10], which includes protein, and infections that often coincide [11]. Cigarette exposure also increases the risk of stunting [12], especially when a child has a weak immune system. As a result, the child will be more

susceptible to illness, which can cause a decrease in nutritional intake in the child's body. Diarrhea and respiratory tract infections are the most common infections in children [13], [14]. Children with weaker immune are more susceptible to infection [15]. Stunted children are thought to have weaker immunity [16]. It is suspected that there are differences in protein consumption and a history of infectious diseases between stunted and non-stunted children [17].

It is suspected that there is a disparity in stunting prevalence and determinants between rural and urban areas [18]. Urban areas which tend to have better facilities and availability of resources are associated with a lower incidence of stunting [19]. Based on the annual performance report of the Bantul Health Office, it is known that malnutrition in the region is 0.31% [20]. Respiratory tract infections are the second-largest outpatients at Bantul's public health center (PHC). Pneumonia in children under five in Bantul Regency was reported in 2020 to have reached 424 cases. The diarrhea morbidity rate in Bantul Regency in 2020 was 64.53 per 1,000 population [21]. Although diarrhea is not included in the top ten diseases at the public health center (PHC), diarrhea in children can have a long-term impact [22], [23].

Chronic malnutrition is associated with stunting and infection in children under five [24]. Long-term malnutrition can disrupt the child's immune system development [25]. Whether malnutrition increases the incidence of infection or increases the severity of the disease remains debatable [26]. The data show that malnourished children have a higher risk of death after infection [27]. The increased susceptibility to infection may be partly due to decreased immune function by malnutrition [16], and infections and deaths in malnourished children are common in low-income environments. Stunted children are at high risk of infection, including respiratory tract infections. Diarrhea is one of the infectious diseases that can cause impaired absorption and even loss of nutrients, and if it is not treated and balanced with appropriate intake, growth will stunt [28], [29]. In addition, when children have diarrhea, they lose their appetite that further reduces nutritional intake and the nutrients consumed are not absorbed properly by the body. Also, in the same area, another study reported undernutrition as one of the risk factors for mortality in children with moderate-severe-diarrhea [22], [30]. This study aimed to determine differences in the incidence of infection, frequency and duration of illness and hospitalization in stunted and non-stunted children and identify differences in the amount of energy and protein consumption between the two groups.

## **2. RESEARCH METHOD**

### **2.1. Research design and ethical clearance**

This research was an analytical observational study with a case-control design. This study combined interview and questionnaires to collect data on infection and a questionnaire for measuring food intake with 24-hour nutritional recall in children under five years old. For 3 x 24 hours, researchers (who has been trained in food recall interviews) asked the respondents about food intake data directly to biological mothers or foster mothers. In addition, this study also used secondary data from the medical records of the Public Health Center (PHC) Jetis 1 Bantul, Yogyakarta, Indonesia. The research protocol was reviewed by the Health Research Ethics Committee, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Muhammadiyah Yogyakarta. The research protocol has been declared ethically appropriate with an ethical certificate no. 166/EP-FKIK-UMY/VI/2019 by the ethics committee.

### **2.2. Population and sample**

The population in this study was stunted and non-stunted children in the working area of PHC Jetis 1, Bantul, Yogyakarta. There were 77 stunted toddlers in the working area of PHC Jetis 1. Purposive sampling method with inclusion and exclusion criteria were used to select respondents. Inclusion criteria were children aged 24-59 months, children without disability/abnormalities (stump leg, small foot on one side), and mother was willing to be a research respondent. Exclusion criteria were children with special needs and mothers who resigned from the research. Based on the inclusion criteria, 40 stunted toddlers were selected. Due to this study used case-control with a ratio of 1:1, the sample size for the control group was also 40 children under five, so that the total sample was 80 toddlers. A sample of 80 children was taken from the PHC Jetis 1 Working Area, precisely from Trimulyo village, in August-September 2019.

### **2.3. Research instrument**

This study used questionnaire with several written questions which can be used to obtain information from the respondents. Two types of questionnaires were used: i) a questionnaire of respondents' characteristics and infection history, which collected respondents' demographic data such as names of mothers and toddlers, gender of toddlers, ages of mothers and toddlers, the height of toddlers, weight of toddlers, environmental sanitation, and history of infectious diseases of toddlers using 53 question items; and ii) the 24-hour food memory questionnaire (24-hour food recall) which was used three times (1x24 hours) to

gain information regarding nutrient intake and provide a greater variety of individual daily intakes. In addition, the food recall method can obtain a quantitative picture of the calories consumed daily by respondents.

The food recall assessment was used to obtain data on food ingredients consumed by respondents within 24 hours. Nutrient consumption data was obtained utilizing food recall 1x24 hours, which were then converted into energy and nutrients using the list of food ingredients (LFI). The data were processed using Nutrisurvey 2007 software to measure respondent's the level of protein and energy consumption. Furthermore, the data were processed using statistical analysis of IBM statistical package for the social sciences (SPSS) 22.00 for assessment and categorization. Results from 24-hour food recall were divided in two categories: sufficient or low consumption per individual. Protein consumption is considered sufficient if it is 35 grams/day and low if it is <35 grams/day. Sufficient energy consumption is sufficient if the consumption is 1600kcal/day; and low consumption is if the energy consumption is <1,600kcal/day.

## **2.4. Data collection procedure**

### **2.4.1. Preparation stage**

We identify the problems that exist in the community before preparing the research proposal and determine the area to be selected as the research location at random. The next stage is the preparation of the protocol, the preparation of the questionnaire and data collection forms, and the preliminary test. Primary data collection from the research subjects' families was carried out after obtaining informed consent through interviews and data collection forms. We collected secondary data related to weight by age, height by age, and the percentage incidence of malnutrition from the nutrition management section at the PHC Jetis 1, Bantul, Yogyakarta. Respondents were selected using the purposive sampling technique and primary data were collected through questionnaires and interviews related to food intake, especially protein intake and history of infectious diseases.

### **2.4.2. Implementation stage**

We visited the respondent's house and if the respondent met the inclusion criteria, the researcher asked the toddler's parents for their availability to be interviewed. We started by explaining the objectives and benefits of becoming research subjects to the respondent. If the respondent agreed, then they were asked to give their signature on the informed consent.

Data were collected through guided interviews with a questionnaire. The researcher gave an infection questionnaire which contained a list of questions, which were filled by circling the given answers, and a 24-hour food recall questionnaire by interviewing the toddlers' parents. After all the questionnaires were completed, the researcher checked the completeness of the questionnaire and then carried out data processing, data analysis, and reporting.

## **2.5. Data analysis**

Bivariate analyses were conducted to test the proportions of the two groups using the Fisher test to identify sex proportion, age group, birth weight, parental occupation, parental education, energy, and protein consumption status, history of diarrhea and acute respiratory infection (ARI), frequency and duration of illness, history of hospitalization, exposure to cigarettes, and consumption of multivitamins). The mean difference between groups of stunted and non-stunted children was tested using an independent t-test on the total consumption of energy, carbohydrates, protein, fat, and fatty acids. We also conducted a simple correlation analysis (bivariate correlation) to determine the relationship between each variable protein consumption and energy consumption indicators with the incidence of stunting in children.

## **3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

### **3.1. Description of respondent's characteristics**

Respondents of this study were 80 children (40 stunted as cases, and 40 non-stunted children as controls) with an age range of 24-59 months within the working area of the Public Health Center Jetis 1 in August-September 2019. Table 1 shows the respondents' characteristics based on gender, age, history of low birth weight (LBW), parental education, and parental occupation.

Table 1 shows that most of the respondents were male, aged between 24-41 months, had an average birth weight, and had a history of maternal education of nine years or longer. There was no difference in the demographic characteristics and weight at birth between the two groups. Most mothers of stunted children had a job outside the home, in contrast to mothers of non-stunted children ( $p < 0.05$ ). Most stunted children experienced a lack of energy and protein consumption, were exposed to cigarette smoke, did not take multivitamin supplements, had a history of diarrhea, were sick more often, and were hospitalized, compared to non-stunted children ( $p < 0.05$ ). Based on the history of the disease, there were two infectious diseases

observed in this study (diarrhea and ARI). Children with stunting experienced diarrhea infections more often than children without stunting ( $p < 0.05$ ). However, in stunted and non-stunted children, there was no difference in the proportion of history of respiratory tract infection/ARI ( $p > 0.05$ ). It was also found that stunted children were more exposed to cigarette smoke and consumed fewer protein supplements than non-stunted children ( $p < 0.05$ ).

Table 1. Demographic characteristics, history of energy and protein consumption, birth weight, exposure to cigarette smoke, consumption of multivitamins, diarrheal illness and ARI, frequency and length of illness, history of hospitalization and education, and mothers' occupation at PHC Jetis 1, Bantul

Characteristic	Stunted (n=40) (%)	Non-stunted (n=40) (%)	p
Sex (male/female)	27 (67.5)	26 (65)	0.81
Age (24-41/42-59 month)	24 (60)	25 (62.5)	0.82
LBW history(yes/no)	6 (15)	3 (7.5)	0.11
Mother with 9 years education (no/yes)	14 (35)	17 (42.5)	0.39
Mother's job (housewife/working woman)	6 (15)	24(60)	0.00**
Protein consumption status (low/enough)	37 (92.5)	0 (0)	0.00**
Energy consumption (low/enough)	38 (95)	13 (32.5)	0.00**
Tobacco smoke exposure (yes/no)	33 (82.5)	10 (25)	0.00**
Multivitamin consumption (yes/no)	14 (35)	22 (55)	0.04*
Diarrhea history (yes)	40 (100)	3 (7.5)	0.00**
Acute respiratory infection history (yes)	40 (100)	30 (75)	0.06
More than 6x diseases (yes/no)	35 (87.5)	3 (7.5)	0.00**
More than seven days of illness (yes)	34 (85)	11 (27.5)	0.00**
Hospitalization history (yes)	30 (75)	11(27.5)	0.00**

There is a reciprocal interaction between infectious diseases (diarrhea and ARI) with nutritional status. Malnutrition can increase the risk of infection, which then can cause malnutrition. Children with malnutrition, with lower body resistance to diseases, are more likely to fall ill. Their reduced nutrition will weaken their capacity to fight diseases and interfere with their growth period [27], [31].

### 3.2. Differences in consumption of protein, energy, carbohydrates, fats, and fatty acids in stunted and non-stunted children

Malnutrition in children is a global public health problem with broad implications. Malnourished children have an increased risk of dying from infectious diseases. It is estimated that malnutrition is the underlying cause of 45% of global deaths in children under five years. Lack of protein intake can cause stunted growth and bone maturity because protein is an essential nutrient in the growth period. Even though the energy intake is adequate, if protein intake is lacking, it will inhibit the children's growth and development. The nutrition survey results among stunted and non-stunted children are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Comparison of consumption of protein, carbohydrates, fats, and fatty acids

Characteristic	Stunted (n=40)	Non-stunted (n=40)	p
Energy (kcal)	628.02±143.82	1400.44±423.03	0.00**
Carbohydrate (gram)	87.32±23.51	179.37±79.97	0.00**
Pufa (gram)	7.92±17.68	8.68±4.68	0.72
Protein (gram)	19.00±3.32	49.87±13.46	0.00**
Fat (gram)	22.79±6.05	49.95±16.02	0.00**

Table 2 shows that there are differences in the amount of energy, protein, carbohydrates, and fat consumption between stunted and non-stunted children. However, there is no difference in fatty acid consumption in these two groups. Low protein intake is one of the risk factors for stunted growth in children aged 24-59 months. Protein forms new tissue during the body growth and development and maintains, repairs, and replaces damaged tissue. Even though their energy intake is adequate, children with long-term protein deficiency will experience stunted height growth [32], [33].

### 3.3. The relationship between energy and protein consumption with the incidence of stunting

Pearson correlation analysis was performed to determine the relationship between the incidence of stunting and the adequacy of protein and energy consumption. The results are presented in Table 3. Based on the significant p-value and r-value from Table 3, it is known that there is a correlation between the status of

protein consumption and the incidence of stunting. This study found that protein consumption in nearly all stunted children (95.0%) was low while in all non-stunted children (100%), the consumption was adequate. Protein is one of the nutrients needed by humans, especially for growth and development. Previous research has shown that stunted children have a much lower protein intake than children who are not stunted. Children who lack protein consumption will be at higher risk of stunting compared to those whose protein consumption is adequate [5], [10]. Based on the significant p-value and r from Table 3, it is known that there is a correlation between the status of energy consumption and the incidence of stunting. From various research results, protein energy malnutrition (PEM) is one of the forms of malnutrition that reduces physical quality and lowers the body's resistance, resulting in an increased risk of illness and death, especially in vulnerable groups. It has been shown that the level of energy consumption is related to the incidence of stunting in children under five years. Toddlers with low energy consumption have a higher risk of stunting than toddlers with sufficient energy consumption levels [34].

Table 3. The relationship between protein consumption and energy consumption with the incidence of stunting

Variable	Pearson correlation	P-Value
Stunting status		
Status of lack of protein consumption	0.951**	0.000
Status of lack energy consumption	0.714**	0.000

Stunted growth has been associated with a weakened immune system [16] because the chemotactic ability of granulocytes in stunted children decreases. Results for phagocytosis were mixed. Five of 12 studies found that leukocytes of malnourished children had reduced ability to ingest particles or bacteria [32]. The results of other studies also show that stunted children experience a decrease in complement system activity. The complement system plays an essential role in self-defense against infection as a natural defense system. Nutritional energy and protein deficiencies are associated with an increased incidence of rotavirus infection in children under five years of age. Studies conducted in Angola and Bangladesh observed an association between different types of undernutrition with rotavirus infection [35], [36].

#### 4. CONCLUSION

Stunted children are more susceptible to diarrhea, more frequent and longer sickness, and hospitalized more often when compared to non-stunted children. They also consume less energy, protein, carbohydrates, and fat. Consumption of energy and protein is associated with the incidence of stunting.

Based on the research data, it is known that adequate energy and protein consumption is the main component in the prevention and treatment of stunting in rural areas in Indonesia. As a tropical country, Indonesia is rich in various plants and animals as a source of energy and protein. Communities in rural areas need knowledge and skills to diversify energy and protein sources using local resources to meet children's energy and protein needs sustainably.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank to the Research Institute and Community Service (*Lembaga Penelitian dan Pengabdian Kepada Masyarakat/LPPM*) Universitas Ahmad Dahlan for providing research funding assistance.





#### REFERENCES

- [1] J. N. Wambura and B. Marnane, "Undernutrition of HEU infants in their first 1000 days of life: A case in the urban-low resource setting of Mukuru Slum, Nairobi, Kenya," *Heliyon*, vol. 5, no. 7, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02073.
- [2] J. H. Humphrey *et al.*, "Independent and combined effects of improved water, sanitation, and hygiene, and improved complementary feeding, on child stunting and anaemia in rural Zimbabwe: a cluster-randomised trial," *The Lancet Global Health*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. e132–e147, 2019, doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30374-7.
- [3] V. M. Aguayo and P. Menon, "Stop stunting: Improving child feeding, women's nutrition and household sanitation in South Asia," *Maternal and Child Nutrition*, vol. 12, pp. 3–11, 2016, doi: 10.1111/mcn.12283.
- [4] C. N. Rachmi, M. Li, and L. A. Baur, "The double burden of malnutrition in Association of South East Asian Nations (ASEAN) countries: A comprehensive review of the literature," *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 736–755, 2018, doi: 10.6133/apjcn.062018.02.
- [5] Riskesdas, "The situation of stunting toddlers in Indonesia," *Kementerian Kesehatan RI*, vol. 301, no. 5, pp. 1163–1178, 2018.
- [6] G. B. Moreau *et al.*, "Childhood growth and neurocognition are associated with distinct sets of metabolites," *EBioMedicine*, vol. 44, pp. 597–606, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.05.043.





- [7] I. Budiastutik and A. Nugraheni, "Determinants of stunting in Indonesia: a review article," *International Journal of Healthcare Research*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 2620–5580, 2018.
- [8] R. Kim *et al.*, "Assessing associational strength of 23 correlates of child anthropometric failure: An econometric analysis of the 2015-2016 National Family Health Survey, India," *Social Science and Medicine*, vol. 238, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112374.
- [9] T. Mahmudiono, C. Segalita, and R. R. Rosenkranz, "Socio-ecological model of correlates of double burden of malnutrition in developing countries: A narrative review," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 16, no. 19, 2019, doi: 10.3390/ijerph16193730.
- [10] V. Uwiringiyimana, M. C. Ocké, S. Amer, and A. Veldkamp, "Data on child complementary feeding practices, nutrient intake and stunting in Musanze District, Rwanda," *Data in Brief*, vol. 21, pp. 334–342, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.dib.2018.09.084.
- [11] K. G. Dewey, "Reducing stunting by improving maternal, infant and young child nutrition in regions such as South Asia: Evidence, challenges and opportunities," *Maternal and Child Nutrition*, vol. 12, pp. 27–38, 2016, doi: 10.1111/mcn.12282.
- [12] L. R. Buisman, E. Van de Poel, O. O'Donnell, and E. K. A. van Doorslaer, "What explains the fall in child stunting in Sub-Saharan Africa?," *SSM - Population Health*, vol. 8, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2019.100384.
- [13] C. L. Gregson *et al.*, "Older age at initiation of antiretroviral therapy predicts low bone mineral density in children with perinatally-infected HIV in Zimbabwe," *Bone*, vol. 125, pp. 96–102, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2019.05.012.
- [14] F. C. Taliwongso, J. I. C. Manoppo, and A. Umboh, "Relationship between stunting and diarrhea incidence in elementary school students in Tikala District, Manado," *e-CliniC*, vol. 5, no. 2, 2017, doi: 10.35790/ecl.5.2.2017.18526.
- [15] E. J. Sobo, "What is herd immunity, and how does it relate to pediatric vaccination uptake? US parent perspectives," *Social Science and Medicine*, vol. 165, pp. 187–195, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.06.015.
- [16] M. J. H. Rytter, L. Kolte, A. Briend, H. Friis, and V. B. Christensen, "The immune system in children with malnutrition - A systematic review," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 9, no. 8, 2014, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0105017.
- [17] A. M. Abd El-Maksoud, S. A. Khairy, H. M. Sharada, M. S. Abdalla, and N. F. Ahmed, "Evaluation of pro-inflammatory cytokines in nutritionally stunted Egyptian children," *Egyptian Pediatric Association Gazette*, vol. 65, no. 3, pp. 80–84, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.epag.2017.04.003.
- [18] L. K. Dwivedi, K. Banerjee, N. Jain, M. Ranjan, and P. Dixit, "Child health and unhealthy sanitary practices in India: Evidence from Recent Round of National Family Health Survey-IV," *SSM-Population Health*, vol. 7, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2018.10.013.
- [19] R. D. Semba, S. de Pee, M. O. Ricks, M. Sari, and M. W. Bloem, "Diarrhea and fever as risk factors for anemia among children under age five living in urban slum areas of Indonesia," *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 62–70, 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2007.04.011.
- [20] Dinkes Kota Palembang, "D.I Yogyakarta Health Profile 2018," *Dinas Kesehatan Palembang*, no. 72, pp. 10–13, 2018, [Online]. Available: <http://www.dinkes.jogjaprov.go.id/download/download/27>.
- [21] Depkes, "Indonesia Health Profile 2019," *Kementerian Kesehatan Republik Indonesia*, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 97–119, 2019, [Online]. Available: <https://pusdatin.kemkes.go.id/resources/download/pusdatin/profil-kesehatan-indonesia/Profil-Kesehatan-indonesia-2019.pdf>.
- [22] M. A. Barffour *et al.*, "Effects of daily zinc, daily multiple micronutrient powder, or therapeutic zinc supplementation for diarrhea prevention on physical growth, anemia, and micronutrient status in rural laotian children: a randomized controlled trial," *Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 207, pp. 80–89.e2, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.11.022.
- [23] T. F. Wierzbza and F. Muhib, "Exploring the broader consequences of diarrhoeal diseases on child health," *The Lancet Global Health*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. e230–e231, 2018, doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30047-0.
- [24] L. M. Nasreddine, A. N. Kassis, J. J. Ayoub, F. A. Naja, and N. C. Hwalla, "Nutritional status and dietary intakes of children amid the nutrition transition: the case of the Eastern Mediterranean Region," *Nutrition Research*, vol. 57, pp. 12–27, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2018.04.016.
- [25] N. Nisbett, P. Davis, S. Yosef, and N. Akhtar, "Bangladesh's story of change in nutrition: Strong improvements in basic and underlying determinants with an unfinished agenda for direct community level support," *Global Food Security*, vol. 13, pp. 21–29, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.gfs.2017.01.005.
- [26] J. Ahishakiye, L. Bouwman, I. D. Brouwer, E. Matsiko, M. Armar-Klemesu, and M. Koelen, "Challenges and responses to infant and young child feeding in rural Rwanda: A qualitative study," *Journal of Health, Population and Nutrition*, vol. 38, no. 1, 2019, doi: 10.1186/s41043-019-0207-z.
- [27] R. L. Bailey, K. P. West, and R. E. Black, "The epidemiology of global micronutrient deficiencies," *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism*, vol. 66, pp. 22–33, 2015, doi: 10.1159/000371618.
- [28] S. Kureishy *et al.*, "A mixed methods study to assess the effectiveness of food-based interventions to prevent stunting among children under-five years in Districts Thatta and Sujawal, Sindh Province, Pakistan: Study protocol," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 17, no. 1, 2017, doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3976-y.
- [29] P. A. M. Ntenda and Y. C. Chuang, "Analysis of individual-level and community-level effects on childhood undernutrition in Malawi," *Pediatrics and Neonatology*, vol. 59, no. 4, pp. 380–389, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.pedneo.2017.11.019.
- [30] L. A. Bartelt, D. T. Bolick, and R. L. Guerrant, "Disentangling microbial mediators of malnutrition: modeling environmental enteric dysfunction," *Cmgh*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 692–707, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2018.12.006.
- [31] M. Parenti, S. McClorry, E. A. Maga, and C. M. Slupsky, "Metabolomic changes in severe acute malnutrition suggest hepatic oxidative stress: a secondary analysis," *Nutrition Research*, vol. 91, pp. 44–56, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2021.05.005.
- [32] M. R. K. Chowdhury, M. S. Rahman, M. M. H. Khan, M. N. I. Mondal, M. M. Rahman, and B. Billah, "Risk factors for child malnutrition in Bangladesh: A multilevel analysis of a nationwide population-based survey," *Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 172, pp. 194–201.e1, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.01.023.
- [33] J. Hadisuyitno and B. D. Riyadi, "Determinant factors of stunting events of toddler in Batu City Indonesia," *Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 231–234, 2021, doi: 10.31838/srp.2021.1.37.
- [34] Tobacco Control Support Center IAKMI, "Atlas Tembakau Indonesia Tahun 2020 [Indonesia Tobacco Atlas 2020]," p. 33, 2020, [Online]. Available: <http://www.tcsc-indonesia.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Atlas-Tembakau-Indonesia-2020.pdf>.
- [35] M. Kurata, K. Takahashi, and A. Hibiki, "Gender differences in associations of household and ambient air pollution with child health: Evidence from household and satellite-based data in Bangladesh," *World Development*, vol. 128, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.104779.
- [36] A. Chisaaque *et al.*, "Rotavirus A infection in children under five years old with a double health problem: undernutrition and diarrhoea – a cross-sectional study in four provinces of Mozambique," *BMC Infectious Diseases*, vol. 21, no. 1, 2021, doi: 10.1186/s12879-020-05718-9.







**BIOGRAPHIES OF AUTHORS**

**Akrom**     is a lecturer in Pharmacology and Clinical Pharmacy on Faculty Pharmacy, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan, Indonesia. His interest research topics are about imunopharmacology, pharmacoepidemiology biomelecular, and about evidence based medicine. He also focused on pytomedicine immunopharmacology, chemopreventive immunopharmacology, health technology asesment and medication error in the hospital and primary health care, the development of pharmaceutical care intervention method for chronic disease (asthma, hypertension, diabetes, COPD, and HIV-AIDS), and about survey on smoking as a risk factor for chronic diseases. He can be contacted at email: akrom@pharm.uad.ac.id.







**Titiek Hidayati**     Currently, she is a lecturer at Universitas Muhammadiyah Yogyakarta, Medical and health science faculty, Epidemiology, Family Medicine and Public Health department. Education history Bachelor, Profession (MD and master in Medical faculty of Gadjah Mada University. Ph. D in Doktoral program of medical faculty of Gadjah Mada University with sandwich like in National Cheng Kung University, Family medicine specialist in PPDS (specialist education program) of medical faculty of Padjajaran University, Bandung. He can be contacted at email: hidayatifikumy@yahoo.co.id.







**Olyvia Wulan Kencana**     is currently working as Pharmacist Manager at one of BUMN companies (Kimia Farma Apotek) in Indonesia. She got her Pharmacy bachelor's degree and Apothecary Degree from the Faculty of Pharmacy, Ahmad Dahlan University, in 2021. In addition, she is also a member of the Indonesian Pharmacist Association (IAI). Olyvia's research title is A relation of protein consumption and a history of infectious disease with the incidence of children stunting. She can be contacted at email: olyviawulankencana@gmail.com.



**Nurholid Umam Kurniawan**     is a Pediatrician who completed his specialist education at Gadjah Mada University. In addition, he is also a member of the Indonesian Doctors Association (IDI) and the Indonesian Pediatrician Association (IDAI). Currently, Dr. Umam is a lecturer at the Faculty of Medicine, Ahmad Dahlan University. The focus of Dr. Umam's research is clinical research on pediatric disease, both observational and experimental. He can be contacted at email: dr\_umam@yahoo.com.



**Prasasti Bintarum**     is a Dentist. Since 1998, she has been working as a public servant. After being placed in Cangkep, Dadirejo, Sedayu, and Jetis 1, she is now working in the Imogiri 1 Public Health Centre and giving services in PKU Muhammadiyah Bantul Hospital. She also joined as an active member of PDGI (Persatuan Dokter Gigi Indonesia), a professional coalition for Indonesian Dentists. The focus of drg Prasasti Bintarum's research is Dental Public Health, especially in health promotion. She can be contacted at email: sasti.kayla29@gmail.com.

# TANIA LANGUAGE SERVICES

English Learning, Translation, and Proofreading Services

Gumawang, Kelurahan Putat, Kecamatan Patuk, Kabupaten Gunungkidul,

Daerah Istimewa Yogyakarta 55281

Email [ahmadmahgfur@gmail.com](mailto:ahmadmahgfur@gmail.com) | Telp. 0818 0276 6699

NOMOR INDUK BERUSAHA (NIB): 1220000501002

22 January 2022

To whom it may concern

I hereby declare that the article stated below has undergone a proofreading process for grammatical and lexical errors. The work involved checking and correcting the use of tenses, punctuation, active/passive voices, subject-verb agreement, spelling, word appropriacy (choice and form), and wordiness. The work, however, did not involve any aspect related to content accuracy, validity, reliability, and clarity which shall be the full responsibility of the article authors.

**Title:**

*Infection and Undernutrition Increase the Risk of Stunting among Rural Children*

**Author(s):**

1. Akrom
2. Olyvia Wulan Kencana
3. Nur Cholid Umam
4. Prasasti Bintarum

I further declare that the information provided in this letter is true.

Yours faithfully,



Ahmad Mahgfur  
Translator and Editor